IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THEODORE RODGERS, JR.,)

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. SC04-1425

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 249238 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114

(386) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Theodore Rodgers, Jr., by indictment with the first-degree murder of his wife, Florence Teresa Henderson. (RV1, R 129-130)¹ The defense unsuccessfully contested the legality of Florida's death penalty, contending among other things that it is unconstitutionally imposed by a judge rather than by jury, that the standard penalty phase jury instructions are unconstitutional as they minimize the role of the jury, and that Section 921.137, Florida Statutes, regarding mental retardation and the death penalty, is unconstitutional. (RV2, R 283-305, 395-417, 654-673, 907, 1002-1011, 1015-1021, 1038; SR6) The defendant also moved to bar hearsay testimony from the state at the penalty phase, arguing that the admission of hearsay would render the sentencing procedure unconstitutional and deny him the right to confrontation. (RV, R 261ff., 420-424, 868, 1103-1210, 1323-1326, 1357; SR 1, T 18) The court denied the motions and permitted the hearsay testimony. (RV, R)

During jury selection, Juror Palmer indicated that he had reservations about the death penalty, but indicated that he could still follow the law, and, although he would be a "hard convince," he would "weigh both sides" and would "impose a

¹The symbol "RV" refers to volumes of the record on appeal (pleadings); the symbol "TV" to the volume numbers of the trial transcripts, numbered separately from the record of

death penalty if that's what the law required." (TV3, T 352-354) However, the court accepted the state's challenge for cause, over the defense objections that the juror could be fair. (TV3, T 356-357)

A jury trial commenced before the Honorable Belvin Perry, Jr., Judge of the Ninth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Orange County on October 13, 2003. The court denied the defendant's motions for judgment of acquittal, in which defense had argued that there was a lack of premeditation shown. (TV 8, T 1048-1050) The jury returned a verdict of guilty of first degree murder as charged. (RV 6, R 1066)

Following the guilt phase of the trial, the court ordered the defendant to be examined by the state's mental health expert and the case proceeded to penalty phase. (RV7, R 1163-1164) The defendant moved in limine to prohibit the state from introducing the defendant's Department of Corrections records from his previous incarcerations which listed unsubstantiated I.Q. scores obtained with a "Beta" test, an unreliable group screening measure not accepted by the Department of Children and Families as required by statute. (SR1, T67-69) The court denied the request, despite the defendant's argument that the state would have to prove the scientific reliability of the Beta test under the Frye standard, which they could not

pleadings; while the symbol "SR" refers to volumes of the supplemental records.

do. (SR1, T 71-73) The court ruled that the *Frye* test affected only the "weight [of the evidence], not its admissibility," so the disputed evidence could be introduced. (SR1, T 72-73)

The state, over objection, was permitted to introduce the hearsay testimony of a former police investigator and a former prosecutor who had been involved in the defendant's prior prosecution in 1979 for manslaughter, and who recounted the substance of the lead witness's statements to police and testimony against the defendant. (SR1, T 32-36, 45-49) The former witness was not shown by the state to be unavailable prior to this damning hearsay testimony and no transcripts of her trial testimony were available (although the defense was provided a copy of her deposition in that case). (SR1, T 34-35) Following the presentation of evidence by the state and the defense, including the hearsay testimony, a victim impact statement by the deceased's daughter, and the defendant's and state's mental health experts, the jury returned an advisory verdict of death by a vote of 8 to 4. (RV, R) The state had presented only a single aggravating circumstance to the jury, to-wit: prior violent felony convictions. (SR1, T 245) Jury interrogatories as to the aggravating and mitigating circumstances were utilized [over defense objections that the trial court could not fashion its own remedies to the problems encountered due to Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). (RV6-7, R 1095-1132) The

3

interrogatories showed that all twelve jurors found the sole aggravating circumstance of prior violent felony convictions. (RV7, R 1136) As to the mitigating factors presented, the jury found as follows: voting 4 to 8 regarding "under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance," voting 0 to 12 in rejecting "extreme duress," voting 0 to 12 on "subtantial impairment to appreciate the criminality of his conduct," rejecting age by a vote of 0 to 12, voting 3 to 9 on "any other aspect of the defendant's character," and 0 to 12 on "any other aspect of the offense." (RV 7, R 1137-1139)

Following the penalty phase of the trial, the court ordered the defendant to be examined by two mental health experts to determine whether the defendant suffered from mental retardation, pursuant to Section 921.137, Florida Statutes. (RV7, R 1165) A combined *Spencer* and mental retardation hearing was held on April 4, 2004. (RV, R 1251; SR) The defendant's motion for new trial and renewed motion for new trial and to vacate the jury recommendation since it was based on hearsay and hence denied the defendant his right of confrontation, were denied. (RV, R 1183-1210, 1323-1325, 1326, 1357)

The court sentenced the defendant to death, finding, by "the greater weight of the evidence" the defendant "is not mentally retarded pursuant to Section 921.137 of the Florida Statutes," even though the defendant "suffers from mild mental retardation." (RV8, R 1348, 1354) In support of the death sentence, the court found that the state had proved one aggravating circumstance of prior violent felonies, which the court accorded great weight. (RV8, R 1329-1330, 1344-1356)

The court rejected the mental mitigating factors of "under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance," and "diminished capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law," reasoning more than a few times that the defendant "knew right from wrong." (RV8, R 1331-1337, 1338-1339) The court also rejected the mitigating circumstances of "extreme duress" and the defendant's age (wherein the defense had argued that his mental age was that of a child, and which factor was not addressed in the court's sentencing order). (RV8, R 1337-1338) The court found, but afforded "very, very little weight," to "any other aspect of the defendant's background," including his impoverished childhood and lack of educational opportunities for minority children in Alabama in the 1940's and 1950's. (RV8, R 1340) As to nonstatutory mitigation, the court also rejected as mitigation the defendant's overcoming his mental disability, his loving relationship with his children, his ability to institutionalize well in prison, his attendance at religious worship, his inadequate nutrition as a child, his exposure as a child to environmental toxins, Rodgers' suicide attempt following the crime, and lack of institutional support and community resources to help the defendant with

5

his mental handicap. (RV8, R 1341-1344) The court found that the defendant was "mildly" mentally retarded and in the borderline range of intellectual functioning, giving it "some" weight. (RV8, R 1341) The court also found to be mitigating that Rodgers was abandoned by his father as a child (giving it "little" weight), low bonding and no transportation to school ("very, very little weight"), generosity and kindness to others ("very little weight") and love and support from his siblings and family ("very, very little weight"). (RV8, R 1342-1344)

After sentencing, the defense discovered that the trial judge, on the very morning of sentencing the defendant to death for his domestic crime, had appeared at a meeting of the Domestic Violence Council, wherein the judge had publicly advocated for getting tough and "zero tolerance" on domestic abusers and killers. (RV8, R 1369-1371) As a result, the defendant moved to set aside the sentencing, have the judge recuse himself, and set a new sentencing before a new judge, indicating that, because of the judge's personal views as expressed for the press at the Domestic Violence Council meeting shortly prior to pronouncing a death sentence on the defendant (also covered by the same news media), Rodgers feared that the judge "may have felt it important to send a message to the community and the media that he was getting tough on domestic violence and that this may have deprived Mr. Rodgers of his right to be sentenced by a neutral judge." (RV8, R 1369-1382) The motion was certified by counsel to be filed in good faith, and was verified by the defendant. (RV8, R 1377-1378) The court denied the motion, ruling it was legally insufficient under Rule 2.160(f), Florida Rules of Judicial Administration. (RV8, R 1383)

Notice of appeal was timely filed. (RV8, R 1384) This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the days leading up to Valentine's Day, February 14, 2001, Theodore Rodgers, Jr., was a troubled man. He suspected that his wife was being unfaithful to him and was having an affair with her ex-husband, Willie Bee Odom. (SR2, T 226-227) On that fateful morning, Rodgers, who was working on a plumbing/sprinkler installation job (which he did with a partner, James Corbett), went by the child care facility that the victim, his wife Teresa Rodgers, ran in order to retrieve some plumbing supplies he needed. (TV8, T 1087-1089)

When Rodgers entered the building, his wife's daughter yelled out to her that he was there. (TV8, T 1089) Willie Bee Odom ran past the defendant and out the door, clad only in his pants, and carrying his shirt and shoes. (TV8, T1089-1090) Rodgers discovered his wife, naked, except for her brassiere, on the toilet, faking that she was on her cell phone.² (TV8, T 1090-1093)

Rodgers, suspecting that Odom had been engaged in oral sex upon his wife, informed her that she was a disappointment and that he was going to leave her and they would discuss this situation later. (TV8, T1093-1094) Rodgers, upset and hurt, left to complete his plumbing job, contacting Verna Fudge, a female friend and minister (with whom he had had a romantic relationship years before and by whom he was still counseled on occasion). (TV8, T 1093-1098) He complained to her about his wife and inquired whether she could furnish him a place to stay temporarily if he left his wife. (TV8, T 1098) She declined to offer him a place to stay, as she was currently living with her mother, but advised him to talk to his wife and seek counsel if necessary. (SR2, T 225-226)

Later that day, Rodgers telephoned Corbett about several jobs and bids, also mentioning to him that he was having marital difficulties and telling Corbett that he was either going to "take care of the problem" or that he was going to "kill her," depending on which conflicting version of the conversation is believed. (TV7, T 1024-1027, 1029-1030) Corbett did not think that the defendant would kill his wife. (TV7, T 1026-1027)

Despite their marital difficulties, Rodgers stopped at the store and purchased

² No one was on the line when Rodgers grabbed the phone from her. (TV8, T1090-1093)

a Valentine's Day card and flowers for his wife (it was Valentine's Day and that's what you do on a holiday), taking them to their home and leaving them there. (TV8, T 1102, 1145) While on his way to a job estimate, the defendant testified, his wife telephoned him and convinced him to instead return to the day care center and discuss their problems. (TV8, T 1105-1106)

Upon his arrival, according to the defendant, the lights were out (except for the television) and he could see none of the children staying at the day care. (TV8, T1107-111) When he began to question his wife, she got up from the couch where she had been reclining and pointed a gun at him, firing a shot which missed him. (TV8, T 1111-1112) They began to struggle over the gun, which went off a few times, hitting Teresa. (TV8, T 1112-1114)

According to testimony of three pre-school age children who were at the daycare, the defendant entered the building and an argument ensued between the defendant and his wife. (TV5, T 672-676, 701-723, 728-735) They testified that the defendant kicked, slapped, or "knocked out" Teresa, retrieved a gun from a back bedroom (although there was evidence that these children could not have seen that room from their vantage point, under a crib in another room), and shot her a "few," "five," or "seven" times, before leaving. (TV5, T 672-676, 701-723, 728-735)

9

Tashunda Lindsey, daughter of Teresa Rodgers, testified that she had been out shopping with Willie Bee Odom for a Valentine's gift for her mother when she telephoned the day care center. (TV5, T 631-633) The defendant answered the phone, inquiring why she was calling and then hung up. (TV5, T 633-634) Lindsey called back immediately, this time with Teresa answering the phone call and telling her that the defendant was "crazy" and saying she needed help. (TV5, T 634, 647) Tashunda, being close to the daycare center, dropped her phone and ran to the center, hearing four gunshots and seeing the defendant leaving in his Jeep. (TV5, T 635-638) She discovered Teresa, bleeding, by the front door. (TV5, T 638)

Cause of death of Teresa Rodgers was due to a gunshot wound to the back (which had a downward angle, causing the bullet to lodge in the subtissues of the lower back), with an ancillary gunshot wound to the back of the head and a grazing wound to the top of her ear and temple. (TV6, T 801-811, 813) The medical examiner also testified about an abrasion and contusion on Teresa's forehead (which could be consistent with being hit by a gun), an abraded contusion to her left arm, and a bruise on her mid-lower back (which would be consistent with being kicked). (TV6, T 795-800, 826)

After the defendant left the daycare center, he drove around in a state of

10

shock, eventually ending up at Bodnick's Pool Hall on Orange Blossom Trail, where he saw some friends, Wendy Hammock and Cleveland Reed, to whom he said, "Next time you see me, I'll be in Hell." (TV7, T 989-995,1008-1010, 1115-1116) Both testified that the defendant did not seem himself (usually happy and smiling), but that he had a blank expression on his face, like he was not focusing on what was happening around him. (TV7, T 995, 1010, 1013) Although he previously had a cell phone on him (apparently disposing it in a dumpster at the pool hall), he borrowed Hammock's phone and telephoned Corbett, telling Corbett that he had killed his wife and that it was nice knowing him and thanking him for all his help over the years. (TV7, T 993-995, 1012, 1013, 1027-1028) When Corbett and Hammock inquired of the defendant what he intended to do, he replied that he had caught Odom "eating his wife's pussy," and that he was going to kill himself, mentioning that he couldn't go to jail. (TV7, T 995-996) Despite their protests, the defendant walked off, pulled out a gun and shot himself in the head. (TV7, T 996-997, 1012) The defendant survived the suicide attempt, the bullet entering his mouth and exiting his forehead without ever entering the cranial cavity and thus causing no brain injury. (RV1, T 98-99)

At the penalty phase of the trial, the state presented a judgment of guilt of manslaughter at a 1979 trial of the defendant (wherein he had originally been

charged with second degree murder). (SR1, T 48-49) Over hearsay and confrontation objections, the state presented testimony of a former police investigator and a former prosecutor regarding details of a statement to police and testimony of Teresa Caldwell, a close friend of the victim, Betty Caldwell (no relation), in that case. (SR1, 32-36, 47-49) They testified that Teresa had indicated that she had been out with Betty in the defendant's car and that they had been drinking and smoking marijuana, when they returned home late to an upset defendant. (SR1, T 35, 42) There had been an argument and fighting back and forth, the extent of which she was unsure (even though she claimed to be present), yet she claimed to know that the defendant struck Betty first, knocking her to the ground, and that Betty, arming herself first, came up with a razor and cut the defendant. (SR1, T 35, 44, 47) The next thing Teresa knew, the defendant had shot Betty once, killing her and causing Teresa to flee the scene. (SR1, T 36)

The police investigator testified that he had also interviewed the defendant, who told him that he and Betty had argued after she came home very late with his car, and that she grabbed a razor and cut him on his right arm. (SR1, T 36-37) The defendant, who had been attacked by Betty on several documented occasions with the razor blade and had also been shot by her (SR1, T 39-40), went and got a gun and put it in his pocket as he didn't know what additional violence she had in

mind. (SR1, T 37) When Betty came at him again with the razor, he grabbed her hand, getting cut with the razor again on his left hand, and threw her to the ground, disarming her. (SR1, T 37) Not finished with him, Betty grabbed a "pretty substantial crystal candy dish" [the words of the investigator, who had observed the crystal dish and razor at the scene] and charged toward the defendant wielding her makeshift weapon, when he pulled out the gun and shot her once. (SR1, T 37-38, 42) The defendant had to be taken to the hospital for treatment of his injuries. (SR1, T 42)

The state also introduced a 1963 judgment against the defendant for robbery, despite objections from the defense as to remoteness in time and that no information about that conviction is available (although the state indicated that the court minutes of that case indicate that the defendant was represented). SR1, T 9-15, 55) The state concluded its penalty case in chief, over defense objection, with the victim impact statement of Tashunda Lindsay, who was too emotionally distraught to be able to read her statement, causing the state attorney to have to read it. (SR1, T 56-57, 61-64)

The defendant presented testimony from family members, his daughter, his two nieces, his older brother, and friends, who testified that the defendant was a loving man who would do anything to help a person and recounted specific times Ted Rodgers had helped them, including giving encouragement to them and warning them to be obedient to their parents, to get an education, and to not repeat his mistakes of prison, and also including an instance where he rescued one niece from the clutches of a pimp. (SR1, T 200-201; SR2, T 204-206, 208-210) Also testifying for the defense were two former girlfriends of the defendant, who still remain friends with him, who testified that Ted Rogers was polite and never did anything inappropriate with them. (SR2, T 212-215, 216-223) One ex-girlfriend, Verna Fudge, indicated that the defendant needed assistance with his living arrangements and lived with her, in an apartment that someone else had gotten for him, and with his sister at various times while she knew him. (SR2, T 220, 223)

Ms. Fudge, a minister, also recounted that Rodgers would seek her counsel regarding his marital problems: that his wife thought him crazy, her children did not like nor respect him and Teresa would not try to make them respect him, that he believed Teresa to be having an affair with her ex-husband and that he had seen them out at dinner. (SR2, T 216, 223-228) This upset him, and Ms. Fudge had seen the defendant crying on occasion. (SR2, 227) Rodgers told Fudge that he wanted to leave his wife because of this, but he did not; he was old and did not want to start over, he loved his wife and he truly wanted to make their marriage work, which Fudge knew to be the case. (SR2, T 228-231) But, Verna testified,

Rodgers was upset on February 14, 2001, when he called her, telling her that he was tired of his wife's antics and wanted out and needed her counsel and would call her back later to talk this through. (SR2, T 232) Fudge also recounted that Ted worked only odd jobs and was not financially well-off (losing a soda shop when his business partner and ex-girlfriend left with the occupational license and when Ted could not undertake the task of getting a new license in his name), that she never knew him to read or write, that he did not have a bank account, and that he needed regular assistance in obtaining and maintaining a place to stay. (SR2, T 219-223)

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