IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THEODORE RODGERS, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC04-1425

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 410519 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32118 (386)238-4990 FAX (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

<u>POINT VI</u>: The trial judge did not err in denying the motion to disqualify him. The motion was untimely and legally insufficient.

POINT VII: This court has repeatedly rejected challenges based on *Ring v*. *Arizona*. Rodgers was convicted of a prior violent felony, manslaughter, at a jury trial. The trial objections to the interrogatory verdicts were confusing, and this issue was not properly preserved. The jury found the aggravating circumstance unanimously.

ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u>

THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY EXCUSED JUROR PALMER FOR CAUSE.

Rodgers claims the trial judge erred in granting the State's motion to excuse

Juror Palmer for cause. When the trial judge first questioned Juror Palmer

regarding how he felt about the death penalty, Juror Palmer responded:

Because of the nature of this case and what you said yesterday, this has been on my mind over the night and what have you, and through the time I've had to think about this, the best way I know to say this is, if given the choice between having to choose death for an individual or life in prison, I would have to choose life in prison. That's, I guess, indirect the best way to explain how I feel about it is I think I'm pro life.

(Vol. III, TT340). The trial judge then asked whether Juror Palmer could set aside

his personal opinions and follow the law or whether his opinions were so strong

that he could not. Juror Palmer answered:

JUROR PALMER: That's where the trouble is.

(Vol. III, TT340). The trial judge then asked whether under the law the death sentence was warranted, Juror Palmer stated that:

JUROR PALMER: I've never had to do that. I don't know for sure. I would have to say I'm having trouble with that, truthfully.

(Vol. III, TT341). The trial judge then said there were several categories of people: some people know they can impose a death sentence and some don't know

whether they can. Juror Palmer stated:

JUROR PALMER: I think I'm more – I would have to choose life in prison.

(Vol. III, TT341). The trial judge then asked:

THE COURT: So despite what the law may indicate, you would really follow your strong personal beliefs? And there's no shame to that, sir. All we're trying to do is find out.

JUROR PALMER: I think—I think that's the truth.

(Vol. III, TT341). After questioning by the prosecutor, Juror Palmer again

insisted:

JUROR PALMER: I have to choose life.

(Vol. III, TT343). He continued:

JUROR PALMER: I understand that the law is important. I don't mean to diminish it. I also know that every day I wake up I receive the mercy of God. I'm not a perfect individual and I receive his blessing just by having breath each day.

MS. DRANE BURDICK: Yes, sir.

JUROR PALMER: I don't necessarily deserve it, but I have it. To ask me to take and deny that privilege to another is a very serious matter.

MS. DRANE BURDICK: It is.

JUROR PALMER: I take it seriously. Please don't misunderstand me. It's not an easy decision for me to come in here and tell you this, I'm not looking for a way to avoid my responsibility; however, honesty is

important. And this is true, I have mercy each day and I feel compelled to give it because I receive it freely.

MS. DRANE BURDICK: So you would –I don't want to keep restating what is apparently obvious, but you will always vote for life in prison and never the death penalty?

JUROR PALMER: At this point I believe that's a true statement.

(Vol. III, TT343-44). Pursuant to questioning by defense counsel, Juror Palmer advised that it was not the guilt phase "where the problem comes." (Vol. III, TT348). When questioned further about not knowing any facts of the case, Juror Palmer agreed that he did not know any facts, but continued:

JUROR PALMER: That's where I am. But the fact there is a death penalty troubles me deeply. I mean--

(Vol. III, TT350). Juror Palmer then answered a series of leading questions and agreed he could listen to the evidence and instructions, but when asked whether he could impose the death penalty, Juror Palmer again protested that:

JUROR PALMER: The thought came to mind there is no place for mercy.

(Vol. III, TT353). After objection by the State when defense counsel made a statement about mercy, the trial judge asked Juror Palmer whether he would vote to impose the death sentence under circumstances where he was instructed by the judge. To this, Juror Palmer answered:

JUROR PALMER: If you leave me no other option,

yes, sir.

Defense counsel then pressed the juror for a clear statement whether there was "any doubt in your mind that you're going to be able to follow the law?" To this the juror responded:

JUROR PALMER: What this is for me is a higher requirement. That sounds like I'm not a law-abiding citizen, but that's not my intent by that statement.

(Vol. III, TT354). The trial judge then asked the juror whether in his "heart of hearts" he could impose the death penalty, Juror Palmer answered:

JUROR PALMER: I think I lean toward not being able to do that when it comes down to giving someone death.

Defense counsel then seized upon the word "doubt," but Juror Palmer stuck to his guns and replied:

JUROR PALMER: I'm going to be a hard convince, sir.

(Vol. III, TT355).

The State moved to remove Juror Palmer for cause, the defense objected, and the judge removed the juror (Vol. III, TT357).

The test upon which the trial court is to determine juror competency is whether the juror can lay aside any bias or prejudice and render his or her verdict solely upon the evidence presented and the instructions on the law given by the court. *Lusk v. State*, 446 So. 2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1984). In applying this test, if "any reasonable doubt exists as to whether a juror possesses the state of mind necessary to render an impartial recommendation as to punishment, the juror must be excused for cause." *Hill v. State*, 477 So. 2d 553, 556 (Fla. 1985). *See also Bryant v. State*, 656 So. 2d 426, 428, (Fla. 1995). A juror should be dismissed for cause if the juror's view regarding the death penalty would prevent or substantially impair the performance of his or her duties as a juror in accordance with the court's instructions and the juror's oath. *Hertz v. State*, 803 So. 2d 629, 638 (Fla. 2001).

In respect to the standard of review, this Court has recognized that "it is within a trial court's province to determine whether a challenge for cause is proper, and the trial court's determination of juror competency will not be overturned absent manifest error." *Id. (quoting Fernandez v. State*, 730 So. 2d 277, 281 (Fla. 1999)). A trial court has latitude in ruling upon a challenge for cause because the court has a better vantage point from which to evaluate a prospective juror's answers than does this Court on a cold review of the record. *Id.* Therefore, a decision to deny a cause challenge will be upheld if there is competent record support for the trial court's conclusions. *Johnson v. State*, 660 So. 2d 648, 661 (Fla. 1995).

In the present case, the trial judge reached the point of admonishing defense counsel that:

You know, when jurors make a decision and you insist on torturing, then you can go ahead and torture them, but we're going to get a jury today. (Vol. III, TT356). Juror Palmer made his position quite clear at the beginning of the series of questions. Even though defense counsel tried to paint the juror into a corner and make the juror question his ability to be a good citizen, the juror was unwavering in his position that he did not want to impose the death penalty on another human being.

POINT II

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING TESTIMONY AT THE PENALTY PHASE REGARDING A PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY.

Rodgers claims the trial court erred in allowing the State to present hearsay testimony in the penalty phase. He cites to several general pre-trial motions and the hearings on those motions regarding hearsay testimony during the penalty; however, the only specific objection was to the testimony of Gerald Bottomley about Teresa Caldwell's trial testimony (SR1, PP34). The sole basis of the objection was "hearsay." (SR1, PP34). There was no objection specific to John Woodard's testimony. The only objection to Dr. Prichard's testimony was that there was a "prior objection from the trial." (SR1, 274) Dr. Prichard did not testify at trial.

The date of the penalty phase was October 20-22, 2003, five months before *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), was decided. After *Crawford* was

decided, Rodgers filed a Motion to Vacate Jury's Recommendation of Death, alleging hearsay testimony of Mr. Bottomley, Mr. Woodard, and Dr. Prichard at the penalty phase referred a re-sentencing. (Vol. VII, R1183-1185). The motion was heard May 10, 2004 (SR2, 522). At the post-trial hearing, defense counsel argued that because the State failed to show unavailability, a new penalty phase was required (SR2, 528). Since *Crawford* had not been decided at the time of trial and there was no responsibility for the State to show unavailability, the State had no opportunity to establish availability or unavailability.

Although the trial transcript was not available from the 1979 conviction, defense counsel had a copy of the deposition given before the trial (SR1, PP34). There was no question Ms. Caldwell had been cross-examined at trial (SR1, PP35).

Mr. Bottomley testified that Teresa Caldwell was present during the 1977 argument between Rodgers and Betty Caldwell during which the former shot the latter (SR1, PP36, 41). Bottomley testified without objection about Rodgers' statements regarding the incident (SR1, PP37). Betty attacked Rodgers with a razor blade which Rodgers wrestled from her. Betty then came toward Rodgers with a candy dish, and he shot her (SR1, PP37). During cross-examination, Bottomley testified about prior incidents of domestic violence between Betty and Rodgers, during one of which Betty shot Rodgers twice (SR1, PP39). Also on cross-examination, defense counsel elicited further details of the 1977 shooting

(SR1, PP41-43).

There was no specific objection (until post-trial) to the testimony of prosecutor Woodard about Teresa Caldwell's deposition statements (SR1, PP46). Neither was there a specific objection (until post-trial) to Dr. Prichard's discussion of the Vineland results. This Court routinely requires that a defendant object to the admission of testimony before the issue is cognizable on appeal. *Castor v. State*, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978). Moreover, this Court has required that the objection be on the specific grounds that the defendant seeks to raise on appeal. *Steinhorst v. State*, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) (objection must be based on same grounds raised on appeal for issue to be preserved).

Even if this issue had merit, the testimony from Mr. Bottomley to which Appellant objected was repeated by Mr. Woodard without objection. Therefore, any error would be harmless.

This issue has no merit because hearsay is specifically authorized by statute.

Section Sec. 921.141. Sentence of death or life imprisonment for capital felonies; further proceedings to determine sentence.

• • •

In the proceeding, evidence may be presented as to any matter that the court deems relevant to the nature of the crime and the character of the defendant and shall include matters relating to any of the aggravating or mitigating circumstances enumerated in subsections (5) and (6). Any such evidence which the court deems to have probative value may be received, regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary rules of evidence, provided the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements.

Rodgers claims the above section is unconstitutional under *Crawford v*. *Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). Rodgers acknowledges the adverse authority of *Rodriguez v. State*, 753 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 2000), which does not preclude hearsay evidence of a prior violent felony during a capital sentencing proceeding. Notwithstanding, he claims that *Crawford* changes *Rodriguez*. Rodgers further distinguishes *Rodriguez* because in this case the trial transcript was not available.

It was undisputed that Teresa Caldwell was cross-examined at the 1979 trial and that her deposition testimony was available. It is also undisputed defense counsel had the opportunity to cross-examine both Mr. Bottomley and Mr. Woodard at the penalty phase. Further, numerous facts were elicited on crossexamination which were favorable to Rodgers, so there was no prejudice in admitting the hearsay testimony. Finally, Mr. Woodard was allowed to testify to Teresa Caldwell's statements without objection.

In general, it is proper to admit evidence regarding prior violent felony convictions to provide the sentencing jury the context of the crime. As this Court has recognized:

It is appropriate in the penalty phase of a capital trial to introduce testimony concerning the details of any prior felony conviction involving the use or threat of violence to the person rather than the bare admission of the conviction. Testimony concerning the events which resulted in the conviction assists the jury in evaluating the character of the defendant and the circumstances of the crime so that the jury can make an informed recommendation as to the appropriate sentence. *Rhodes v. State*, 547 So. 2d 1201, 1204 (Fla. 1989); see also *Bowles v. State*, 804 So. 2d 1173, 1184 (Fla. 2001); *Jones v. State*, 748 So. 2d 1012, 1026 (Fla. 1999) (permitting the admission of hearsay testimony from a police officer regarding defendant's past murder conviction); *Gore v. State*, 706 So. 2d 1328, 13333 (Fla. 1997); *Anderson v. State*, 841 So. 2d 390, 407 (Fla. 2003); *Spann v. State*, 857 So. 2d 845, 855 (Fla. 2003); *Rose v. State*, 787 So. 2d 786, 800 (Fla. 2001); *Lockhart v. State*, 655 So. 2d 69, 72 (Fla. 1995).

Furthermore, the holding in *Crawford* merely changed the test for the admissibility of testimonial hearsay under the Confrontation Clause. While this Court has noted that a defendant has a confrontation right at the penalty phase, this Court has held that the admission of hearsay testimony that a defendant had a fair opportunity to rebut did not violate this right. *Rodriguez*, 753 So. 2d at 44-46. This holding is entirely in accordance with United States Supreme Court precedent. *See Williams v. New York*, 337 U.S. 241 (1949); *see also Gregg v. Georgia*, 428 U.S. 153, 203-204 (1976)(explaining that strict evidentiary rules at trial should not preclude admissibility of relevant information at capital sentencing phase); *Jurek v. Texas*, 428 U.S. 262, 276 (1976)(same); *United States v. Tucker*, 404 U.S. 443 (1972)(trial court may consider a broad range of information in

sentencing regardless of its source).2 The United States Supreme Court did not invalidate these cases in *Crawford*, which concerned the admission of evidence during the guilt phase of a trial. *United States v. Roche*, 415 F.3d 614, 618, 7-8 (7th Cir. 2005); *United States v. Luciano*, 414 F. 3d 174, 178-179 (1st Cir. 2005); *United States v. McGuffin*, 2005 U.S. App. LEXIS 13081, 10-15 (10th Cir. June 29, 2005); *United States v. Martinez*, 413 F.3d 239, 241-243 (2nd Cir. 2005); *United States v. Mandhai*, 2005 U.S. App. LEXIS 11624, 2-4 (11th Cir. Jun. 16, 2005); *United States v. Leatch*, 111 Fed. Appx. 770, 770 (5th Cir. 2004); *People v. West*, 823 N.W.2d 82, 41-42 (Ill. App. Ct. 2005); *State v. Stephenson*, 2005 Tenn. Crim. App. 208, 45-49 (Tenn. Crim. App. Mar. 9, 2005). As such, *Crawford* does not apply to this penalty phase claim. It should be denied.

Additionally, both the United States Supreme Court and this Court have determined that the introduction of hearsay evidence in violation of the Confrontation Clause is subject to harmless error analysis. *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673 (1986); *Hopkins v. State*, 632 So. 2d 1372, 1377 (Fla. 1994). Here, any error in the admission of Mr. Bottomley's testimony would be harmless because it concerned matters that were cumulative to other testimony and the

² Moreover any evidentiary rule precluding otherwise relevant evidence at a capital sentencing proceeding would run afoul of the Court's holdings that emphasize the importance of providing to the jury as much information as possible. *Lowenfield v. Phelps*, 484 U.S. 213 (1988); *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586 (1978)(finding unconstitutional any state-imposed restriction on the admissibility at sentencing of any perceived mitigation).

witness was cross-examined extensively, during which examination information beneficial to Rodgers was elicited. Thus, any error was harmless. *State v*. *DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The claim should be denied.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING PRIOR IQ TESTS CONDUCTED BY DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

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